UST INC Form DEF 14A March 26, 2003

SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION

PROXY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 14(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 (AMENDMENT NO.

Filed by the Registrant [X]								
Filed by a Party other	than the Registrant []							
Check the appropriate	box:							
[] [X] Definitive Proxy Statement [] Definitive Additional Materials [] Soliciting Material Pursuant to Section 240.14a-11(c) or Section 240.14a-2.	Preliminary Proxy Statement	[]	Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))					
	UST IN	С.						
	(Name of Registrant as Spe	ecified In Its C	Charter)					
	(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy State (Check the appropriate box):	ement, if othe	er than Registrant)					
[X] No fee require	ed.							
[] Fee computed	on table below per Exchange Act Rules	14a-6(i)(4) a	and 0-12.					
(1) Title of ea	ach class of securities to which transaction	on applies:						
(2) Aggregate	e number of securities to which transacti	ion applies:						

Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (Set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):

	(4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
	(5) Total fee paid:
[]	Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
[]	Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
	(1) Amount Previously Paid:
	(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
	(3) Filing Party:
	(4) Date Filed:

100 West Putnam Avenue

Greenwich, Connecticut 06830

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

March 27, 2003

To the Stockholders of UST:

The 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of UST Inc. (the Company) will be held at Rich Forum, 307 Atlantic Street, Stamford, Connecticut, on Tuesday, the 6th day of May 2003, at 10:00 a.m., Eastern Daylight Saving Time, for the following purposes:

- (1) to elect three directors for terms of three years each;
- (2) to consider and act upon a proposal to approve the amended and restated UST Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan;
- (3) to consider and act upon a proposal to approve the amended and restated UST Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan to be renamed the Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan, if approved by stockholders;
- (4) to ratify and approve the selection of independent auditors of the accounts of the Company for the year 2003;
- (5) to consider and act upon two stockholder proposals, if presented by their proponents; and
- (6) to consider and act upon such other business as may properly come before the meeting.

Stockholders of record at the close of business on March 6, 2003 will be entitled to vote at the meeting. The approximate date of mailing of this Proxy Statement is March 27, 2003.

You are urged to vote your proxy promptly whether or not you plan to attend the meeting in person. Please sign and date the enclosed Proxy and return it promptly in the enclosed postage paid envelope or you may also vote your shares either via telephone or the Internet. Please read the instructions printed on the top portion of your Proxy card. The Company s transfer agent, which is tabulating votes cast for the meeting, will count the last vote received from a stockholder, whether by telephone, proxy or ballot or electronically through the Internet. Please note all votes cast via telephone or the Internet must be cast prior to 5:00 p.m., Eastern Daylight Saving Time, on Monday, May 5, 2003.

DEBRA A. BAKER,

Senior Vice President and Secretary

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Proxies and Voting Information	
Solicitation of Proxy	1
Attendance and Procedures at Annual Meeting	1
Action to be Taken at Meeting	2
Proposal No. 1 Election of Directors	3
General Information	3
The Nominees	3
Compensation of Directors	6
-	-
Committees of the Board Report of the Audit Committee	7 8
Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation	9
Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return	13
Compensation of Executive Officers	14
Summary Compensation Table	14
Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year	15
Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and	
Fiscal Year-End Option	
Values	15
Pension Table	16
Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment	
and Change in Control	
Arrangements	17
Indebtedness of Management	19
Proposal No. 2 Amended and Restated UST Inc. Incentive	17
Compensation Plan	19
Proposal No. 3 Amended and Restated UST Inc. 2001 Stock	
Option Plan to be Renamed Amended and Restated Stock	
Incentive Plan	22
Proposal No. 4 Selection of Independent Auditors	29
Independent Auditors Fees	29
Stockholder Proposals (Proposal Nos. 5 and 6)	31
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock	37 37
Information Respecting Proxies	38
Other Business	38
2004 Annual Meeting	38
UST Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan	Appendix I
UST Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan	Appendix II

100 West Putnam Avenue

Greenwich, Connecticut 06830

PROXY STATEMENT

Solicitation of Proxy

The enclosed proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors (the Board) of UST Inc. (the Company) for use at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held May 6, 2003, including any adjournment thereof (the Annual Meeting). Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, the Board respectfully requests the privilege of voting on your behalf and urges you to either sign, date and return the enclosed proxy or vote your shares via telephone or the Internet. By doing so you will, unless such proxy is subsequently revoked by you, authorize the persons named therein, or any of them, to act on your behalf at the Annual Meeting.

Any stockholder who submits a proxy may revoke it by giving a written notice of revocation to the Secretary or, before the proxy is voted, by submitting a duly executed proxy bearing a later date. The Company s transfer agent, which is tabulating votes cast at the Annual Meeting, will count the last vote received from each stockholder, whether by telephone, proxy or ballot or electronically through the Internet.

As of March 6, 2003, the record date for the Annual Meeting, the outstanding stock of the Company entitled to vote consisted of 167,743,115 shares of common stock (Common Stock) (each entitled to one vote).

Appearance at the meeting in person or by proxy of the holders of Common Stock entitled to cast 83,871,558 votes is required for a quorum.

Attendance and Procedures at Annual Meeting

Attendance at the Annual Meeting will be limited to stockholders of record, beneficial owners of Common Stock entitled to vote at the meeting having evidence of ownership, a duly appointed proxy holder with the right to vote of an absent stockholder (one proxy holder per absent stockholder) and invited guests of the Company. Any person claiming to be the proxy holder of an absent stockholder must, upon request, produce written evidence of such authorization. If you wish to attend the Annual Meeting but your shares are held in the name of a broker, bank or other nominee, you should bring with you a proxy or letter from the broker, bank or nominee as evidence of your beneficial ownership of the shares. Management requires all signs, banners, placards, cameras and recording equipment to be left outside the meeting room.

1

Action to be Taken at Meeting

- 1. Three directors will be elected to serve for terms of three years each and until their respective successors are elected and qualified.
- 2. A resolution will be offered to approve the amended and restated UST Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan (ICP).
- 3. A resolution will be offered to approve the amended and restated UST Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan, to be renamed the Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan.
 - 4. A resolution will be offered to ratify and approve the selection of independent auditors of the accounts of the Company for the year 2003.
 - 5. The Company has been advised that two resolutions will be offered by stockholders.

Your authorized proxies will vote **FOR** the election of the individuals herein nominated for directors and the resolutions regarding the ICP, the stock option plan, and the auditors, and **AGAINST** the stockholder resolutions, unless you designate otherwise. A proxy designating how it should be voted will be voted accordingly.

Proposal No. 1

Election of Directors

The Certificate of Incorporation provides for the election of one-third (as nearly as possible) of the Board annually.

The Board, upon recommendation of the Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee, nominated the three directors standing for election at the Annual Meeting for terms expiring at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held in the year 2006. The Board currently consists of nine members.

Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast. Plurality means that the nominees who receive the largest number of votes cast. For are elected as directors, up to the maximum number of directors to be chosen at the Annual Meeting. Consequently, any shares not voted For a particular nominee as a result of a direction to withhold or a broker non-vote will not affect the outcome of the vote.

The Nominees

Set forth in the following Table I is certain information with respect to each person nominated by the Board and each person whose term of office as a director will continue after the Annual Meeting, including the number of shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by such person as of January 31, 2003.

TABLE I

Name of Nominee* or Director

John P. Clancey

Age 57

Shares beneficially owned:

Outstanding shares 7,290 Shares subject to options 17,500

Present term expires 2005 Director since 1997

*Edward H. DeHority, Jr.

Age 72

Shares beneficially owned: Outstanding shares 7,396

Shares subject to options 22,000

Nominated for term to expire 2006

Present term expires 2003 Director since 1990

3

Business History

Mr. Clancey has served as Chairman of Maersk Sealand since December 1999. He served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Sea-Land Service, Inc., from July 1991 to December 1999. He also serves as a director of Foster Wheeler Ltd.

Mr. DeHority is a retired certified public accountant and attorney. He was employed by Ernst & Young LLP from 1958 to 1988.

Name of Nominee*

*Patricia Diaz Dennis

Age 56
Shares beneficially owned:
Outstanding shares 870
Shares subject to options 1,500
Nominated for term to expire 2006
Present term expires 2003
Director since 2001

Elaine J. Eisenman, Ph.D.

Age 54
Shares beneficially owned:
Outstanding shares 3,860
Shares subject to options 19,000
Present term expires 2005
Director since 1996

Edward T. Fogarty

Age 66
Shares beneficially owned:
Outstanding shares 8,613
Shares subject to options 16,000
Present term expires 2004
Director since 1997

Business History

Ms. Diaz Dennis has served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of SBC West since May 2002. She served as Senior Vice President Regulatory and Public Affairs of SBC Communications Inc. (SBC) since November 1998 to May 2002 and as Senior Vice President and Assistant General Counsel of SBC from September 1990 to November 1998. She also serves as a director of Entravision Communications Corporation.

Dr. Eisenman has served as Chairman of Management & Capital Partners, a firm specializing in management consulting, retained executive search and venture capital investments, since April 2001. She served as Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of Enhance Financial Services Group, Inc. from December 1999 through February 2001. She served as Executive Vice President Human Resources and Administration from January 1998 to December 1999.

Mr. Fogarty served as Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and President of Tambrands Inc. from October 1996 to July 1997 and as President and Chief Executive Officer of Tambrands Inc. from May 1994 to October 1996. He also serves as a director of Avon Products, Inc. and Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company.

Name of Nominee* or Director

Business History

Vincent A. Gierer, Jr.

Age 55
Shares beneficially owned:
Outstanding shares 659,314
Shares subject to options 849,900
Present term expires 2005
Director since 1986

Mr. Gierer has served as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer since December 1, 1993 and has served as President since September 27, 1990. He has been employed by the Company since 1978.

Joseph E. Heid

Age 56
Shares beneficially owned:
Outstanding shares 1,000
Shares subject to options 0
Present term expires 2004
Director since February 20, 2003

Mr. Heid served as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Esprit de Corp from December 1999 to July 2002. From November 1997 to November 1999, he served as President of Revlon International. He previously served as Senior Vice President of Sara Lee Corporation. He is a Certified Public Accountant. He also serves as a director of Maidenform, Inc.

*Peter J. Neff

Age 64
Shares beneficially owned:
Outstanding shares 5,762
Shares subject to options 17,500
Nominated for term to expire 2006
Present term expires 2003
Director since 1997

Mr. Neff has served as an international business management consultant since January 1998. He was formerly President and Chief Executive Officer of Rhône-Poulenc, Inc., the North American subsidiary of Rhône-Poulenc, S.A. He also serves as a director of Envirogen, Inc.

Lowell P. Weicker, Jr.

Age 71
Shares beneficially owned:
Outstanding shares 16,769
Shares subject to options 9,000
Present term expires 2004
Director since 1995

Mr. Weicker served as Governor of Connecticut from 1991 to 1995. He served as a U.S. Senator from 1970 to 1988. He also serves as a director of Compuware, HPSC, Inc., Phoenix Home Life Mutual Funds and World Wrestling Entertainment.

Mr. DeHority, Ms. Diaz Dennis and Mr. Neff are now directors and will serve for the terms indicated. Your proxy, unless otherwise marked, will be voted for the aforesaid nominees for such terms. In the event that any nominee is not available for election at the time of the meeting or any adjournment thereof, an event which is not anticipated, your proxy may be voted for a substitute nominee and will be voted for the other nominee named above.

As of January 31, 2003, all directors and executive officers as a group beneficially owned 892,835 shares and had exercisable options to acquire 1,964,500 shares, which together represented in the aggregate approximately 1.7% of the outstanding Common Stock including options held by all such persons. No executive officer or director beneficially owned more than 1% of the aggregate amount of the outstanding Common Stock including options held by the respective person.

The Board held seven meetings during 2002.

Compensation of Directors

The monthly retainer for all nonemployee directors for their services as directors, including committee assignments is \$5,000. Nonemployee directors are reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred by them in connection with performance of their services to the Company as members of the Board or its committees. Employee directors receive no additional compensation for their services as directors.

The Company maintains the UST Nonemployee Directors Restricted Stock Award Plan (the Restricted Stock Plan). The Restricted Stock Plan provides for the automatic award to each nonemployee director of 50 shares of restricted stock for each meeting of the Board attended and 40 shares of restricted stock for each Board committee meeting attended. The shares of restricted stock vest on the third anniversary date of the award. Once awarded, dividends on restricted shares are paid to the nonemployee director and all shares may be voted; however, ownership may not be transferred until service on the Board terminates. Unvested shares will be forfeited in the event of a voluntary resignation or refusal to stand for re-election, but vesting will be accelerated in the event of change in control, death, disability or age-related forced retirement from service pursuant to the Board's retirement policy.

The Company also maintains the UST Nonemployee Directors Stock Option Plan (the Stock Option Plan). The Stock Option Plan, which was approved by stockholders at the 1995 Annual Meeting, provides for an annual, automatic grant of an option to purchase 1,500 shares of Common Stock on the first business day following each annual meeting, beginning in 1995, to each member of the Board who is not then an employee of the Company. The Stock Option Plan, as amended effective June 30, 2000, also provides for the issuance of additional options, in the discretion of the Compensation Committee. All options will be granted with an exercise price per share equal to the fair market value per share of Common Stock on the date the option is granted and will first become exercisable six months after the date of grant. The option exercise period will expire ten years after the date of grant and will not be affected by a participant s cessation of membership on the Board.

The Company also maintains the UST Nonemployee Directors Retirement Plan (the Directors Plan), a nonqualified, nonfunded plan that applies to nonemployee members of the Board (who are not former employees), whose service as such includes periods beginning on or after January 1, 1988, and whose service equals or exceeds 36 months. Under the terms of the Directors Plan, an eligible director will receive one-twelfth of 75% of his or her highest annual compensation (including the value of all restricted stock awards) each month, beginning at age 65 (or such later date upon which occurs his or her termination of service) and continuing over a period equal to his or her period of service, provided, however such period will not exceed 120 months. In addition, the Directors Plan also provides for a lump sum payment to a deceased director s spouse in the event of a director s death either prior to or subsequent to a director s retirement.

In addition, the Company maintains the UST Directors Supplemental Medical Plan (the Directors Medical Plan), a self-insured medical reimbursement plan that applies to nonemployee members of the Board who are not former employees. The Directors Medical Plan provides for an additional \$7,500 of annual coverage for each participant for reasonable, medically-related expenses above the participant s basic medical plan coverage. Coverage continues upon a participant s retirement from the Board for a period equal to the participant s period of service on the Board.

The Company also makes available to its nonemployee directors up to \$12,500 annually in tax and financial planning services. After retirement from the Board, this benefit continues in the amount of \$6,500 annually for a period equal to the retired director s period of service on the Board. In

addition, nonemployee directors are covered under the Company s group life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment and business travel accident policies.

Committees of the Board

The Company has an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, a Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee and a Strategic Review Committee.

The Audit Committee, which is currently comprised of the following five directors: Edward H. DeHority, Jr. Chairman, Patricia Diaz Dennis, Joseph E. Heid, Peter J. Neff and Lowell P. Weicker, Jr., met seven times during 2002. Each of the members of the Audit Committee qualifies as independent in accordance with the rules of the New York Stock Exchange. As specified in its charter, a copy of which was attached to the Company s proxy statement for its 2001 annual meeting, the Audit Committee reviews, acts upon and reports to the Board with respect to accounting, reporting, financial practices and controls of the Company. Its responsibilities include oversight of the Company s financial reporting process and reviewing the adequacy of the Company s systems of internal controls. The Audit Committee annually reviews the qualifications and independence of the Company s independent auditors, the scope and fees of their audit and also reviews and approves their non-audit services and related fees. With respect to non-audit services provided by the independent auditors, the Audit Committee specifically considers whether such services are compatible with their independence. Upon completion of its review, the Audit Committee makes its recommendation to the Board for the selection of the independent auditors. The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing procedures employed by management to monitor compliance with the Company s Code of Corporate Responsibility. The Audit Committee s Report appears on page 8 of this proxy statement.

The Compensation Committee, which met four times in 2002, is comprised of the following independent, nonemployee directors: Elaine J. Eisenman Chairman, John P. Clancey, Patricia Diaz Dennis and Edward H. DeHority, Jr. The Compensation Committee s responsibilities include (i) reviewing and approving, as appropriate, the broad compensation program of the Company as applied to its officers, including all executive officers, and the various components of total compensation of the executive officers and (ii) administering the Company s stock option plans and considering and approving stock option grants thereunder. The Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation appears on pages 9 to 12 of this proxy statement.

The Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee, which met five times during 2002, is comprised of the following independent, nonemployee directors: John P. Clancey Chairman, Elaine J. Eisenman, Edward T. Fogarty and Peter J. Neff. The Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee s responsibilities encompass corporate governance and nominating matters, including the recommendation of nominees to the Board and the size and composition of the Board and its committees. The Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee also considers recommendations from stockholders for Board candidates. Any recommendations should be submitted in writing to the Secretary at the Company s office.

The Strategic Review Committee, which is comprised of the following five directors: Vincent A. Gierer, Jr. Chairman, Edward T. Fogarty, Joseph E. Heid, Peter J. Neff and Lowell P. Weicker, Jr., met three times in 2002. The Strategic Review Committee has oversight responsibility for significant financial matters of the Company, financial terms of any proposed significant acquisitions or divestitures, investment results of employee trust funds, dividend policy and other capital transactions including the share repurchase policy and the Company s strategic plans.

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee (the Committee) oversees the Company s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board. Management has the primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process including the systems of internal controls and for the preparation of the Company s consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Committee reviewed the audited financial statements in the Company s 2002 Annual Report with management which included a discussion of the quality, not just the acceptability, of the accounting principles, the reasonableness of significant judgments, and the clarity of disclosures in the financial statements.

The Committee reviewed with the independent auditors, who are responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of those audited financial statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, their judgments as to the quality, not just the acceptability, of the Company s accounting principles and such other matters as are required to be discussed with the Committee under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. In addition, the Committee has discussed with the independent auditors the auditors independence from management and the Company including the matters in the written disclosures required by the Independence Standards Board and it has considered the compatibility of nonaudit services performed by the auditors with the auditors independence.

The Committee discussed with the Company s internal and independent auditors the overall scope and plans for their respective audits. The Committee meets with the internal and independent auditors, with and without management present, to discuss the results of their examinations, their evaluations of the Company s internal controls, and the overall quality of the Company s financial reporting.

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Committee recommended to the Board (and the Board has approved) that the audited financial statements be included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC). The Committee and the Board have also recommended, subject to stockholder approval, the selection of the Company s independent auditors.

February 19, 2003

Audit Committee

Edward H. DeHority, Jr., Chairman

Patricia Diaz Dennis

Peter J. Neff

Lowell P. Weicker, Jr.

Q

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Policy

The Compensation Committee (the Committee) believes that the Company s executive compensation programs, which are designed to provide appropriate incentives and rewards to its executive officers for outstanding performance, have been and will continue to be essential to the Company s ability to attract, retain and motivate the most highly qualified executives, recognizing the challenges and uniqueness of the tobacco industry. The Committee also believes that meaningful participation in the Company s success is the most effective means of compensating its executive officers. Accordingly, it has been the Committee s long-standing policy to link pay and performance by placing a major portion of total compensation at risk and subject to the Company s financial performance.

The Committee s objective for the Company s executive compensation programs is that total compensation for the Company s officers should fall at approximately the 75th percentile of a Comparator Group, which is composed of a cross section of other high-performing companies, but only if warranted by Company performance. Return on equity and earnings per share (EPS) growth are the two principal measures of Company performance established by the Committee. The 75th percentile for total compensation is the only established target level. The Committee continues to believe that its objective is reflective of the Company s efforts in attracting and retaining talented executives who can direct growth in the challenging and unique environment in which the Company operates.

Specific Components of Compensation Program

Base Salary. Base salary for the executive officers is the component of the Company's compensation program that is least related to Company performance and therefore is intended to be the smallest portion of total compensation. Historically, base salaries of the executive officers as a group have constituted approximately 30% of their cash compensation and approximately 27% of their total compensation. However, for 2002, base salaries of the executive officers as a group constituted 46% of their cash compensation and 39% of their total compensation. This was the result of their non-receipt of ICP awards for 2002 (see ICP discussion below). Base salaries of executive officers have generally been reviewed by the Committee every three years and are based upon fixed percentages of the Chief Executive Officer's (CEO) salary depending on the level of officer.

Incentive Compensation Plan (ICP). Annual bonuses are awarded under the ICP, which is directly linked to Company performance through earnings. The ICP formula, which was last approved by stockholders in 1980, provides each year for an aggregate fund based upon fixed percentages of consolidated earnings (before income taxes and incentive compensation), as specified in the ICP, so long as earnings exceed a threshold percentage of stockholders—equity and cash dividends have been declared and paid in the year. Up to 50% of the ICP fund may be allocated by the ICP Committee among the Company—s officers, including all executive officers (Fund A). ICP awards to each of the executive officers must be approved by the Committee, which decides whether to accept or alter the ICP Committee—s recommendations. The ICP provides that the CEO will not be permitted to receive more than 15% of Fund A and no other executive officer will be permitted to receive more than 12% of Fund A. In addition, the sum of these percentages cannot exceed 100%. These percentages govern the maximum amounts that may be allocated to each executive officer and are not subject to increase without stockholder approval. The Committee has, however, the authority to determine that an award to an executive officer will be less than the indicated maximum percentage based on performance for such executive officer.

For 2002, no ICP fund was generated as a result of the \$1.3 billion judgment against the Company in its antitrust litigation which negatively impacted the Company s earnings. The Company reported a net loss for 2002 of \$271.5 million. Accordingly, no ICP awards were made for the 2002 plan year.

However, in anticipation of the litigation loss and the resulting elimination of an ICP fund, the Board, upon the Committee s recommendation, authorized the establishment of a contingent merit bonus fund based on the Company s 2002 operating results in order to reward key employees (approximately 1,900 employees including all executive officers) for their performance in 2002. The Board considered, among other things, the fact that the Company s operations performed well and that overall performance was good. But for the litigation loss, the Company s 2002 net earnings would have increased 1.5% over 2001 and the 2002 ICP Fund would have increased by 1% over the 2001 ICP Fund. Both net earnings and net sales for 2002 would have been record results for the Company.

The merit bonus fund was established under the parameters that are comparable to those that apply under the terms of the ICP, *provided*, *however*, that the principal officers of the Company (Group A Participants, as defined in the ICP) would be eligible to receive no more than 70% of the amount that such officers would have received under the ICP and *provided further*, *however*, that the employees of the Company other than the principal officers (Group B Participants, as defined in the ICP) would be eligible to receive no more than 85% of the amount that such employees would have received under the ICP, in each case assuming that the litigation loss was excluded for purposes of calculating the operating results of the Company in 2002. Of the total merit bonus fund which represented 3.94% of the Company s 2002 earnings before taxes, the litigation loss and provision for the merit bonus fund, 38.8% was allocated to Group A and 61.2% was allocated to Group B. In its consideration of the specific awards to each executive officer, target bonuses were set and then adjusted based on a subjective evaluation of each executive officer and their respective performance during the year. The adjusted target bonuses were then reduced between 30% and 70% in order to reflect the litigation loss, depending on specific circumstances relating to each executive officer. Mr. Gierer was Chairman and CEO at the time of the judgment; Messrs. D Alessandro, Kohlberger and Verheij were part of the management team at the time of the judgment; Mr. Kessler had just joined the Company at the time of the judgment; and Mr. Baseler s responsibilities are unrelated to the smokeless tobacco operations. As a group, the Committee believes that executive officer bonuses should be most affected due to the overall loss.

The aggregate merit bonus awards made to the executive officers constituted approximately 54% of their aggregate 2002 cash compensation, a decrease of 16% from the previous year and approximately 45% of their aggregate 2002 total compensation, a decrease of 13% from the previous year.

Stock Options. The long-term incentive component of executive compensation is equity-based and consists of the grant of stock options to the executive officers (as well as many other employees of the Company) under the Company s stock option plan. Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of shares of the Company s stock on the date of grant. The optionee will realize value from an award only if the market price of the Company s stock appreciates. Long-term equity-based compensation serves the Committee s overall compensation policy as follows: it is variable (not fixed); its value is performance-related, based upon the market price of the Company s stock; and it is designed to provide an additional incentive to executives to take into account the Company s long-term goals and plans. In addition to providing incentive compensation, stock options are a means to encourage equity ownership.

Individual grants to the Named Executive Officers for 2002 are set forth in Table III (Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year) included in this Proxy Statement. The Committee s practice in the grant of stock options to officers is generally based upon a subjective evaluation of performance and not subject to a specific formula. In determining the size of option grants to executive officers, the Committee generally considers the following factors, without assigning any particular weight to any factor: (i) the position and performance of the executive, (ii) the grant date present value (using the modified Black-Scholes option pricing model) of the award compared with the value of awards to executives in the Comparator Group, (iii) attaining the Committee s targeted goal for total compensation and (iv) the importance of long-term compensation, as discussed above. In its consideration of the size of option grants, the Committee also takes into account the number of shares available under the Company s stock option plan which remain to be granted. It does not consider the size, in the aggregate, of all previous option grants made to an executive officer.

Only a special stock option grant was made in 2002 to certain key employees, including the Company s executive officers. The total grant consisted of 740,000 shares which were the remaining shares available under the Company s 1992 Stock Option Plan which expired with respect to the grant of options on May 4, 2002. Executive officers received 35% of the total option shares granted. Since fewer options in the aggregate were granted in 2002, the executive officers as a group received 32% fewer options than what they had received in the prior year. As a result, aggregate long-term incentive compensation to the executive officers decreased 35% from the prior year and constituted 16% of their 2002 total compensation.

As a result of lower bonuses and the receipt of fewer stock options, aggregate total compensation for executive officers for 2002 decreased 30% from the prior year. The total compensation earned by each executive officer in 2002 generally falls below the 75th percentile of the Comparator Group.

2002 Compensation of Chief Executive Officer

The CEO s performance is reviewed annually by the Committee and each component of his compensation (base salary, bonus and stock options) is determined by the Committee, consistent with its compensation policy as previously discussed. The Committee s evaluation of the CEO s performance is based upon such quantitative factors as the achievement of the Company s targeted financial objectives (net earnings and EPS) as well as such qualitative factors as the implementation and achievement of strategic initiatives designed to further the Company s earnings growth and profitability and enhance stockholder returns. The Committee makes a subjective determination in considering these factors rather than assigning any factor a specific weight.

As noted in Table II, Mr. Gierer s base salary was last increased in 2001. His total cash compensation in 2002 decreased 42% from the prior year due to his lower bonus.

The Committee determined the level of Mr. Gierer's long-term incentives in 2002 by taking into consideration the factors described above under Stock Options. However, due to the limited number of shares remaining available for the grant of options under the Company's 1992 Stock Option Plan, Mr. Gierer's 2002 long-term incentive compensation significantly decreased from the prior year. As a result, Mr. Gierer's 2002 total compensation decreased 41% from the prior year. Mr. Gierer's total compensation continues to fall significantly below the 75th percentile of total compensation paid to chief executive officers in the Comparator Group.

Executive Stock Ownership Guidelines

The Committee has established guidelines for officers stock ownership. Under those guidelines, officers are encouraged and expected to obtain and hold company stock (excluding stock acquired through the Employees Savings Plan) in an effort to align their interests with those of the Company s stockholders as well as to demonstrate their long-term commitment to the future growth of the Company. The guidelines provide that the CEO is expected to own, at a minimum, that number of shares whose market value represents the sum of five (5) times his base salary and 30% of the difference between the aggregate exercise price and the aggregate market value of his exercisable stock options. For all other officers, this same formula is applied but is based upon three (3) times, two (2) times or one (1) times base salary, depending on position. Officer stock ownership may be monitored by the Committee and such ownership may be taken into account in the granting of stock option awards.

Limit on the Deductibility of Certain Executive Compensation

The current federal tax law imposes an annual, individual limit of \$1 million on the deductibility of the Company s compensation payments to the CEO and the Company s four most highly compensated other executive officers (the Covered Employees). Specified compensation is excluded for this purpose, including performance-based compensation that satisfies the conditions of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Committee has determined to ensure to the maximum extent practicable, the deductibility of all compensation payments made to the Company s executive officers. In furtherance of this policy, the Committee has proposed that stockholders approve the amended and restated UST Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan (Proposal No. 2, page 19) which is intended to satisfy the conditions necessary for performance-based compensation in order to ensure the Company s tax deduction of the compensation awarded to Covered Employees under the ICP.

February 19, 2003

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Elaine J. Eisenman, Chairman John P. Clancey Patricia Diaz Dennis Edward H. DeHority, Jr.

12

COMPARISON OF FIVE YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

Among UST Inc., S&P Tobacco Index & S&P 500 Index

	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002
UST Inc.	\$100.00	\$ 99.59	\$ 76.15	\$ 92.60	\$122.44	\$123.69
S&P Tobacco S&P 500	100.00 100.00	121.30 128.58	58.62 155.64	114.15 141.46	125.72 124.65	117.17 97.10

^{*} Assumes \$100 invested on 12/31/97 and held through 12/31/02. Total return assumes reinvestment of dividends.

COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The tables and descriptive information which follow are intended to comply with the SEC regulations for executive compensation requirements applicable to, among other reports and filings, annual proxy statements. This information is being furnished with respect to the Company s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and its four other most highly compensated executive officers as of December 31, 2002 (collectively, the Named Executive Officers).

TABLE II
Summary Compensation Table

		Annual Co	ompensation	Long Term Compensation	
				Awards	
Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary(\$)	Bonus(\$)	Securities Underlying Options(#)	All Other Compensation(\$)(1)
Vincent A. Gierer, Jr.	2002	900,000	850,000	78,500	12,000
Chairman of the Board,	2001	900,000	2,100,000	120,000	15,300
President	2000	750,000	1,885,000	80,000	10,200
Richard H. Verheij	2002	574,519	675,000	55,000	12,000
Executive Vice President	2001	450,000	1,222,000	70,000	15,300
and General Counsel	2000	450,000	940,000	100,000	10,200
Robert T. D Alessandro	2002	424,519	540,000	33,000	12,000
Senior Vice President and	2001	300,000	868,000	50,000	15,300
Chief Financial Officer	2000	300,000	780,000	80,000	10,800
Theodor P. Baseler	2002	360,000	350,000	10,000	12,000
President International	2001	360,000	435,000	30,000	15,300
Wine & Spirits Ltd.	2000	260,000	363,000	50,000	11,400
Murray S. Kessler	2002	500,000	834,000	55,000	12,000
President	2001	500,000	1,265,000	70,000	15,300
U.S. Smokeless Tobacco Company	2000	372,692	976,000(2)	100,000	-0-

⁽¹⁾ Amounts represent Company matching contributions to the Employees Savings Plan.

14

⁽²⁾ Amount includes a hiring bonus of \$100,000 paid in 2000.

All options to purchase Common Stock of the Company granted to the Named Executive Officers for 2002 in the table below have been granted under the Company s 1992 Stock Option Plan, as amended from time to time (the 1992 Plan). The 1992 Plan expired by its terms in May 2002 with respect to the grant of options.

TABLE III
Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year

Individual Grants					Grant Date Value	
Name	Number of Securities Underlying Options Granted(#)(1)	% of Total Options Granted to Employees in Fiscal Year	Exercise or Base Price \$/Share	Expiration Date	Grant Date Present Value(\$)(2)	
Vincent A. Gierer, Jr.	78,500	10.6	40.94	05/01/12	384,650	
Richard H. Verheij	55,000	7.4	40.94	05/01/12	269,500	
Robert T. D Alessandro	33,000	4.5	40.94	05/01/12	161,700	
Theodor P. Baseler	10,000	1.4	40.94	05/01/12	49,000	
Murray S. Kessler	55,000	7.4	40.94	05/01/12	269,500	

- (1) Options granted in 2002 expire in ten years and generally become exercisable ratably over a four year period following the date of grant, subject to acceleration of exercisability upon a change in control of the Company.
- (2) Amounts based on the modified Black-Scholes option pricing model, using the following material assumptions: exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock on the date of grant, interest rate representing the interest rate on a U.S. Treasury security with a maturity date corresponding to that of the expected life of the option, volatility calculated using weekly stock prices for a one year period prior to grant date, estimated period in which option will be exercised of 7.5 years and expected dividend yield of 5.0%. There is no assurance the value realized by an optionee will be at or near the value estimated by the modified Black-Scholes option pricing model. Should the stock price not rise over the option price, optionees will realize no gain.

The following table contains information about the options to purchase Common Stock that were exercised in 2002 by the Named Executive Officers and the aggregate value of these officers unexercised options at the end of 2002.

TABLE IV

Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year

and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

Number of Securities

	Shares Acquired on	Value	Underlying Unexercised Options at Fiscal Year-End(#)		Value of Unexercised In-the-Money Options at Fiscal Year-End(\$)	
Name	Exercise(#)	Realized(\$)	Exercisable	Unexercisable	Exercisable	Unexercisable
Vincent A. Gierer, Jr.	80,000	276,600	664,600	185,300	2,423,478	582,649
Richard H. Verheij			588,900	135,100	2,390,075	666,246
Robert T. D Alessandro	17,000	170,680	282,800	93,200	1,531,763	529,991
Theodor P. Baseler			137,700	46,800	925,974	331,174
Murray S. Kessler			56,600	135,100	637,967	666,246

TABLE V
Pension Table

Years of Service

 Remuneration	5	10	15	20	25	30	35
\$ 200,000	\$ 20,755	\$ 41,510	\$ 62,265	\$ 83,020	\$103,775	\$124,530	\$ 145,285
300,000	\$ 31,755	\$ 63,510	\$ 95,265	\$127,020	\$158,775	\$190,530	\$ 222,285
400,000	\$ 42,755	\$ 85,510	\$128,265	\$171,020	\$213,775	\$256,530	\$ 299,285
500,000	\$ 53,755	\$107,510	\$161,265	\$215,020	\$268,775	\$322,530	\$ 376,285
600,000	\$ 64,755	\$129,510	\$194,265	\$259,020	\$323,775	\$388,530	\$ 453,285
700,000	\$ 75,755	\$151,510	\$227,265	\$303,020	\$378,775	\$454,530	\$ 530,285
800,000	\$ 86,755	\$173,510	\$260,265	\$347,020	\$433,775	\$520,530	\$ 607,285
900,000	\$ 97,755	\$195,510	\$293,265	\$391,020	\$488,775	\$586,530	\$ 684,285
1,000,000	\$108,755	\$217,510	\$326,265	\$435,020	\$543,775	\$652,530	\$ 761,285
1,100,000	\$119,755	\$239,510	\$359,265	\$479,020	\$598,775	\$718,530	\$ 838,285
1,200,000	\$130,755	\$261,510	\$392,265	\$523,020	\$653,775	\$784,530	\$ 915,285
1,300,000	\$141,755	\$283,510	\$425,265	\$567,020	\$708,775	\$850,530	\$ 992,285
1,400,000	\$152,755	\$305,510	\$458,265	\$611,020	\$763,775	\$916,530	\$1,069,285

The above Pension Table sets forth information for determining the estimated annual retirement benefits payable as a life annuity to the Named Executive Officers under the Company's defined benefit plans pursuant to which benefits are determined by final compensation and years of service (the Retirement Plans). Compensation for purposes of the Retirement Plans means the highest three-year average compensation (salary and 25% of bonus actually paid in the applicable year) in the ten-year period immediately preceding retirement. Table II shows salary paid in 2000-2002 and bonus for the 2000-2002 years actually paid in 2001-2003. For 2002, the three-year average compensation covered by the Retirement Plans for each of the Named Executive Officers was as follows: Mr. Gierer, \$1,349,167; Mr. Verheij, \$755,167; Mr. D. Alessandro, \$534,833; Mr. Baseler, \$409,833; and Mr. Kessler, \$636,750. As of December 31, 2002, the credited years of service under the Retirement Plans were approximately as follows: Mr. Gierer, 25 years; Mr. Verheij, 16 years; Mr. D. Alessandro, 22 years; Mr. Baseler, 18 years; and Mr. Kessler, 3 years. Pension Table calculations assume retirement on December 31, 2002 and take into account offsets for social security benefits.

The Named Executive Officers also participate in a supplemental retirement plan (the Supplemental Plan). The formula by which benefits are determined under the Supplemental Plan is as follows: the greater of 100% of the accrued benefit under the Retirement Plans or 40% of the executive s highest compensation (salary plus 25% of bonus) paid during any of the three consecutive twelve-month periods within the 36 months immediately preceding retirement (for retirement generally at age 55), increasing in constant whole-percentage increments to the greater of 110% of such accrued benefit or 50% of such compensation (for retirement at age 60 or thereafter), less amounts payable under the Retirement Plans. The estimated annual benefits payable as a life annuity at normal retirement age (assuming compensation and service as of December 31, 2002) under the Supplemental Plan for each of the Named Executive Officers (after taking into account reductions for benefits under the Retirement Plans) are approximately as follows: Mr. Gierer, \$73,584; Mr. Verheij, \$178,648; Mr. D Alessandro, \$68,180; Mr. Baseler, \$123,913 and Mr. Kessler, \$366,900.

Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change in Control Arrangements

The Company is party to employment agreements with Messrs. Gierer (with an initial term of 4 years) and Verheij (with an initial term of 3 years) which set forth the terms and conditions of such officers employment and termination of employment with the Company. The stated initial terms of the agreements are generally automatically extended, subject to expiration at age 65. The employment agreements provide that such officers will be entitled to certain severance benefits if the Company terminates their employment for any reason other than death, disability or cause (as defined in the agreements) or if the officer terminates his employment for good reason, including termination following a change in control of the Company (as such terms are defined in the agreements). The severance benefits that would be payable to Mr. Gierer consist principally of the continuation over the remaining term of the officer s employment agreement or, if greater, three years, of an annual amount equal to the sum of his base salary and the highest ICP payment made to Mr. Gierer in any of the preceding three years. In the event of a termination based on a change in control, the ICP taken into account for this purpose would be limited to an amount equal to 75% of base salary, the multiple would in all cases be three and the benefits would be paid in a lump sum. The severance benefits that would be payable to Mr. Verheij consist principally of payments equal to the sum of his base salary and the highest ICP payment made to Mr. Verheij in any of the three years preceding termination, multiplied by three, to be paid in installments over a two-year period. In the event of a termination of employment based on a change in control, such payments would be made in a lump sum. In addition, the Company would maintain certain employee benefit plans in effect for the officers continued benefit or provide substantially equivalent benefits for three years following the termination of the officers employment under circumstances entitling the officer to severance under the agreements. Under the terms of Mr. Verheij s agreement, the Company may reduce the welfare benefits provided to the extent that comparable benefits are provided by a new employer. In the event that any payments made pursuant to the employment agreements in connection with a change in control are subjected to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, the Company would increase each officers severance payment as necessary to restore the officer to the same after-tax position he would have had if such excise tax had not been imposed.

The employment agreements for Messrs. Gierer and Verheij provide that the officer shall, if serving as a director, resign as such upon termination of employment for any reason. Messrs. Gierer and Verheij have also agreed not to engage in competitive activity (as defined in the agreements) (i) in the case of Mr. Gierer, during the period he is entitled to receive severance under the agreement and (ii) in the case of Mr. Verheij, during the five-year period following termination of his employment; provided, however, that these non-compete provisions will not apply following a change in control of the Company. Based upon current salary levels, the approximate lump-sum value of the severance payments, exclusive of the effect of state and local taxes, that would have been payable to the aforementioned executive officers if their employment had terminated on December 31, 2002 following a change in control of the Company would be as follows: Mr. Gierer, \$4.7 million and Mr. Verheij, \$5.4 million.

In addition, the Company is party to severance agreements with Messrs. D Alessandro, Baseler and Kessler which set forth the benefits to be paid upon certain terminations of employment following a change in control of the Company. Each of the agreements has a three-year term that is generally automatically extended and, in any event, expires no earlier than two years following a change in control. Each agreement provides that the officer will be entitled to the severance benefits

described below if the Company terminates his employment within the two-year period following a change in control for any reason other than death, disability or cause or if the officer terminates his employment for good reason (as such terms are defined in the agreement). The benefits consist of a lump-sum payment equal to three times the sum of the officer s base salary and the highest ICP payment made to the officer in any of the preceding three years, provided that such ICP amount is capped at 75% of base salary for this purpose. The Company would also maintain specified welfare benefit plans in effect for the officer s continued benefit or provide substantially equivalent benefits for three years. Based upon current salary levels, the approximate before-tax lump-sum value of the severance payments, exclusive of any reductions attributable to any change in control benefits payable under other of the Company s employee benefit plans or arrangements, that would have been payable to the aforementioned executive officers if their employment had terminated on December 31, 2002 following a change in control would be as follows: Mr. D Alessandro, \$2.2 million; Mr. Baseler, \$1.9 million and Mr. Kessler, \$2.6 million.

Indebtedness of Management

Since January 1, 2002, none of the Company s directors, executive officers, nominees for election as directors or certain relatives or associates of such persons has been indebted to the Company in an aggregate amount in excess of \$60,000 except as noted below in Table VI, which represents unpaid balances on loans made pursuant to stock option exercises under the terms of the UST Inc. 1982 Stock Option Plan and the 1992 Plan, both of which have expired with respect to the grant of options and both as previously approved by stockholders. Unpaid balances on such loans are secured by the pledging of the shares with the Company and by the optionee s personal installment promissory note bearing interest at the applicable federal rate in effect under the Internal Revenue Code (the Code) on the date the loan is made. No new loans have been made to the Company s directors or executive officers on or after July 30, 2002 nor have the loans existing on or prior to July 30, 2002 been modified or renewed.

TABLE VI

	Largest Aggregate Indebtedness during 2002(1)	Indebtedness as of February 14, 2003(1)
Vincent A. Gierer, Jr.	\$4,592,964	\$3,141,325
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and		
President		
Richard H. Verheij	465,547	379,979
Executive Vice President and General Counsel		
Robert T. D Alessandro	745,687	711,312
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer		
Richard A. Kohlberger	496,857	373,326
Senior Vice President		
Theodor P. Baseler	221,345	180,456
President International		
Wine and Spirits Ltd.		
Murray S. Kessler	247,461	219,180
President U.S. Smokeless Tobacco Company		

⁽¹⁾ Interest rates on loans range from approximately 4% to approximately 6%.

Proposal No. 2

A Proposal to Consider and Approve the Amended and Restated UST Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan

The UST Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan (the ICP) was originally adopted by the Board and approved by its stockholders in 1968. The ICP was subsequently amended and last approved by stockholders in 1980, prior to enactment of Section 162(m) of the Code (Section 162(m), discussed below). The ICP has subsequently been amended by the Board, and was most recently amended and restated, effective as of January 1, 2003, in order to provide that any unusual single item of income or expense, gain or loss, which exceeds 10% of operating income for any particular year, will be excluded from the calculation of the operating earnings of the Company for purposes of the ICP, subject to the limited discretion of the Compensation Committee (see, Description of the

Principal Features of the ICP, Limitation on Compensation Committee s Discretion below). For 2002, no bonuses were payable under the ICP as a result of the \$1.3 billion judgment against the Company in its antitrust litigation which negatively affected the Company s earnings. The Board believes that it is important to amend the ICP in order to exclude unusual single items of income or expense (such as the litigation loss in 2002) from the calculated earnings under the ICP in order to implement the compensation program established by the Compensation Committee. Under the amended ICP, the Compensation Committee will also have the discretion not to exclude the unusual single item of income or expense if such determination would result in a lower calculation of earnings for purposes of the ICP.

The purpose of seeking stockholder approval of the ICP, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2003, is to qualify for the performance-based exclusion from the deduction limitations under Section 162(m) and to comply with the amendment provisions of the ICP requiring stockholder approval of certain amendments (see, *Description of Principal Features of the ICP, Amendments/ Termination of the ICP* below).

Section 162(m) disallows deductions for publicly-held corporations with respect to compensation in excess of \$1 million paid to the CEO and the Company s four most highly compensated other executive officers. However, compensation payable solely on account of attainment of one or more performance goals is not subject to the deduction limitation if: i) the performance goals are objective, pre-established and determined by a compensation committee comprised solely of two or more outside directors; ii) the material terms of the performance goals under which the compensation is to be paid are disclosed to the shareholders and approved by a majority vote; and iii) the Compensation Committee certifies that the performance goals and other materials terms were in fact satisfied before the compensation is paid.

The Board believes that adoption of the ICP, as amended and restated, is necessary to meet the Company s objectives of securing, motivating and retaining officers and other employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. A copy of the full text of the amended and restated ICP is attached to this Proxy Statement as Appendix I. The following summary of the principal features of the amended and restated ICP is qualified in its entirety by reference to Appendix I to this Proxy Statement.

Description of the Principal Features of the Amended and Restated ICP

Purpose. The purpose of the ICP is to attract and retain highly qualified executives by providing appropriate performance-based short-term incentive awards. An additional purpose of the ICP is to serve as a qualified performance-based compensation program under Section 162(m), in order to ensure the Company stax deduction for compensation paid under the ICP to executive officers.

Administration. The ICP is administered, with respect to executive officers, by the Compensation Committee (the Committee), which consists solely of outside directors within the meaning of Section 162(m). With respect to other employees, the ICP is administered by the ICP Committee appointed by the Board (the ICP Committee).

Eligibility. The ICP provides that any full-time employee, or designated part-time salaried employee, of the Company who is determined to have made a meaningful contribution to the Company for a particular plan year is eligible to participate in the ICP for such plan year. Termination of employment prior to the end of the plan year for any reason will not effect an employee s eligibility for that portion of the year prior to termination.

Performance Goals. The ICP formula provides each year for an aggregate fund (the Total Fund) based upon the percentages (described immediately below) of the operating earnings of the Company computed in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, before income taxes and incentive compensation (the Incentive Plan Income). Effective as of January 1, 2003, any unusual single item of income or expense, gain or loss, which exceeds 10% of operating income for any particular year will be excluded from the calculation of the Incentive Plan Income unless the Committee determines that such exclusion will not apply and such determination results in a lower amount of Incentive Plan Income. Incentive compensation will only be paid if: i) earnings exceed 12% of stockholders equity and ii) cash dividends have been declared and paid for the year.

The specific percentages of Incentive Plan Income allocated to the Total Fund are as follows: 1% of the first \$1,000,000; 2% of the next \$1,500,000; 3% of the next \$2,500,000; 4% of the next \$3,500,000 and 5% of amounts over \$8,500,000. No more than 50% of the Total Fund may be allocated by the ICP Committee to a group consisting of the Company s officers (currently 34 individuals), including all executive officers (Fund A). Allocations to each of the executive officers must be approved by the Committee. The balance of the Total Fund constitutes Fund B, in which approximately 2,000 employees are potentially eligible to participate, and in which approximately 1,900 employees participated during the 2001 plan year. No ICP Fund was generated for the 2002 plan year.

To determine each participant s incentive compensation, the ICP Committee first assigns to each participant an incentive weight, expressed as a percentage not to exceed 40%, based on individual performance. The incentive weight is multiplied by the participant s salary to determine the participant s performance points. The total performance points for all participants is divided into the dollar amount in the Total Fund to determine an adjustment factor. Each participant s, performance points are multiplied by the adjustment factor to determine his or her incentive compensation.

Incentive compensation payments will be made in cash as soon as is practicable following the completion of the computations discussed above and certification by the Committee. Participants receiving compensation from Fund A may elect in writing prior to the commencement of the plan year to defer payment until a specified date after retirement. If such an election is made, the participant will receive deferred payments within thirty days of retirement or the termination of his or her employment for any reason.

Maximum Bonuses. The ICP provides that the CEO will not be permitted to receive more than 15% of Fund A (to which not more than 50% of the Total Fund may be allocated) and no other executive officer will be permitted to receive more than 12% of Fund A, subject to the condition that the sum of these percentages does not exceed 100%.

Limitation on Compensation Committee s Discretion. The Committee does not have the discretion to increase the amount of the award payable to an executive officer but the Committee may, in its discretion, reduce or eliminate the amount payable to such an individual. The Committee may also decline to exclude any unusual single item of income or expense, gain or loss, which exceeds 10% of operating income for any particular year from the calculation of the Incentive Plan Income provided such determination results in a lower amount of Incentive Plan Income.

Compensation Committee Certification of Performance Goal Attainment. A statement of the amount of the Total Fund will be prepared under the direction of and certified by the Controller, as soon after the close of the plan year as may conveniently be done, and delivered to the ICP

Committee. Before any awards for a particular plan year can be paid, the Committee must certify the extent to which the performance goals and any other material terms of the ICP were satisfied.

Amendments/ Termination of the ICP. The ICP may be amended or terminated by the stockholders of the Company or by the Board, provided that no amendment of the ICP may be made without the approval of stockholders if such amendment would (i) change the method of calculation of the Total Fund, (ii) reduce the existing restrictions on the distribution of the Total Fund or (iii) increase the allowable allocation to Fund A to more than 50% of the Total Fund.

Benefits under the Plan. Inasmuch as individual benefits under the ICP will be determined by the Committee or the ICP Committee, benefits to be paid under the ICP are not determinable at this time. Bonuses granted to executive officers under the ICP for the 2000 and 2001 plan years are set forth above under Executive Compensation Summary Compensation Table. No bonuses were awarded for the 2002 plan year since no Incentive Plan Income was generated as a result of the Company's inclusion in 2002 of a \$1.3 billion judgment against it in an antitrust lawsuit which generated a net loss to the Company for 2002. Aggregate bonuses awarded under the ICP for the 2001 plan year were as follows: \$6,569,000 to all executive officers as a group; \$9,808,000 to all other officers as a group; and \$25,510,782 to all other employees as a group.

The following resolution will be offered at the Annual Meeting:

RESOLVED, that the UST Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended and restated by the Board of Directors on December 12, 2002, be, and it hereby is, approved by the stockholders of the Company.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE <u>FOR</u> THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION (Proposal No. 2). Your appointed proxies will vote your shares **FOR** Proposal No. 2 unless you instruct otherwise in the proxy form.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of Common Stock present in person or by proxy is required to adopt this proposal. In accordance with Delaware law, abstentions will, while broker non-votes will not, be treated as present for purposes of the preceding sentence.

Proposal No. 3

A Proposal to Consider and Approve the Amended and Restated 2001 Stock Option Plan to be Renamed the Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan.

The UST Inc. 2001 Stock Option Plan (the 2001 Plan) was adopted by the Board on February 15, 2001 and was approved by the Company s stockholders on May 1, 2001. The 2001 Plan as previously approved provides for a maximum of 6 million shares available for grant of options thereunder. To date, no options have been granted under the 2001 Plan. The 2001 Plan was recently amended and restated by the Board, subject to stockholder approval, to provide for additional types of equity-based awards thereunder. The amended and restated 2001 Plan to be renamed the Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan is being presented to stockholders for their approval as Proposal No. 3.

The Board believes that the adoption of the Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan (the Plan) is necessary to preserve the qualification of the Plan for the performance-based exclusion under 162(m) and to meet the Company s objectives of securing, motivating and retaining officers and other employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. By amending and restating the Plan to provide for equity based awards in addition to options, the Board believes that it will maintain the flexibility to adapt the compensation of key employees of the Company to changes in law, accounting principles and corporate objectives affecting such compensation.

The Plan, as required by Section 162(m), sets the following maximums on the number of shares of Common Stock subject to awards that any individual participant can receive in any year under the Plan: 250,000 shares subject to stock options or SARs, and 100,000 shares of Stock subject to Restricted Stock Awards, Performance Stock Awards, Stock Unit Awards, or Other Stock-Based Awards (as defined below). Accordingly, if the Plan is approved by stockholders and other conditions of Section 162(m) relating to the exclusion for performance-based compensation are satisfied, certain compensation paid to executive officers pursuant to the Plan will not be subject to the deduction limit of Section 162(m). A copy of the full text of the Plan is attached to this Proxy Statement as Appendix II.

The following summary of the principal features of the Plan is qualified in its entirety by reference to Appendix II to this Proxy Statement.

Principal Features of the Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan

The name of the Plan, as amended and restated, is the UST Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan . The term of the Plan is ten years from May 1, 2001. No Awards may be granted under the Plan after April 30, 2011, but grants made before that date may continue to be exercisable and/or to vest after that date, and will otherwise be governed by the terms of the Plan.

The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee (the Committee). The Committee consists of at least two members of the Board who are non-employee directors within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, (the Securities Exchange Act) and outside directors within the meaning of Section 162(m). Subject to conditions determined by the Committee, the Committee will have the authority to delegate its responsibilities under the Plan to one or more persons, but no delegate will have the authority to make or approve Awards to executive officers.

There are generally five types of awards that may be granted under the Plan: stock options (including both incentive stock options (ISOs) within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code and nonqualified stock options which are options that do not qualify as ISOs), stock appreciations rights (SARs), Restricted Stock Awards, Performance Stock Awards and Stock Unit Awards. In addition, the Committee in its discretion may make other awards valued by reference to, or otherwise based on, the market price of Common Stock. These types of awards (collectively, Awards) are described in more detail below under the caption Awards Under the Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan.

Shares of Stock Authorized Under the Plan; Share Limits. The total number of shares of Common Stock of the Company authorized for issuance under the Plan consists of 6,000,000 shares previously approved by the stockholders of the Company for issuance under the Plan. Of this total, no more than 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock will be authorized for issuance under the Plan in respect of Restricted Stock Awards, Performance Stock Awards, Stock Unit Awards or Other Stock-Based Awards over the term of the Plan. As of December 31, 2002, no Awards had been granted under the Plan and 6,000,000 shares remained available for the grant of Awards under the Plan. Shares subject to an Award that are forfeited, or remain otherwise unissued upon the expiration, lapse or termination of an Award will again be available for issuance under the Plan. The total number of shares of Common Stock subject to options or SARs awarded to any individual employee shall not exceed 250,000 shares in any fiscal year of the Company. In addition, for each tax year of the Company, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be subject to Stock-Based Awards other than options and SARs granted to any individual employee is 100,000.

The number of shares subject to the Plan, the number of shares subject to outstanding Awards under the Plan and the share limits discussed herein, shall be equitably adjusted in the event of capital adjustments described in the Plan, such as a stock split, stock dividend, share exchange, recapitalization or similar event.

Eligibility for Participation. All employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, including executive officers who are determined by the Committee to be making a contribution to the success of the Company, are eligible to receive grants of stock options and other Awards under the Plan. The number of eligible participants under the Plan and the number of Awards of Common Stock they may each be granted are not presently determinable. However, approximately 2,300 employees held stock options granted under the 1992 Plan as of December 31, 2002. The value of stock option awards granted in 2002 to the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table is set forth under Table III bearing the caption Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year.

The Plan may be amended or terminated by action of the Board, provided that, where required by applicable law or regulation, an amendment will not become effective unless approved by the Company s stockholders.

Awards Under the Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan

Stock Options. The Committee may grant incentive stock options (ISOs) (as provided under §422 of the Code) and/or options that do not qualify as ISOs (nonstatutory options) to purchase the Common Stock. The exercise price of incentive and nonstatutory stock options may not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the underlying Common Stock on the date of grant. ISO s are subject to restrictions under the Code, including a requirement that prohibits options for more than \$100,000 worth of Common Stock from becoming exercisable for the first time during any calendar year. The Committee may not reprice, or cancel and regrant, an outstanding stock option or SAR at a lower exercise price.

The terms and conditions of options granted will be in the discretion of the Committee. Generally, unless otherwise determined by the Committee, options must be held for one year after the date of grant before they can be exercised under the Plan. In general, so long as the optionee remains an employee of the Company, the options may be exercised for a period that ends ten years after the date of grant. In the event of a change of control of the Company (as defined in the Plan), all outstanding unexercised options, whether or not then exercisable, will become fully exercisable.

The purchase price for all options must be paid in full upon exercise pursuant to the payment methods specified by the Committee. The optionee is responsible for payment of all taxes that the Company may be obligated to withhold with respect to the Common Stock issuable upon exercise.

Pursuant to guidelines adopted by the Committee, if an optionee s employment is terminated for any reason other than death, disability, or retirement, and unless the Committee determines otherwise, unvested options will be forfeited and the forfeited shares will be available for other grants. In general, an optionee s outstanding exercisable options will be forfeited unless said options are exercised within 90 days following such termination.

Stock Appreciation Rights. SARs may be granted either apart from, or in conjunction with, stock options. SARs have not been granted to date, but if they were granted, they would be assigned an exercise price per share of at least 100% of the market value of the underlying Common Stock on the date of grant. Upon the exercise of a SAR granted in conjunction with an option, the holder will be required to surrender the related option and will be entitled to receive such number of shares of

Common Stock as is equal in aggregate fair market value on the date of exercise to the spread between the fair market value of the share as to which the SAR was exercised and the exercise price of the option that was surrendered. Upon the exercise of an SAR granted apart from an option, the holder will be entitled to receive such number of shares of Common Stock as is equal in aggregate fair market value on the date of exercise to the spread between the fair market value of a share of Common Stock and the SAR exercise price. In either case, the Committee may elect to pay cash equal to the aggregate fair market value of the Common Stock that the holder would otherwise have received. Generally, SARs are subject to the same exercise periods, limitations, and treatment upon death, disability or retirement or other termination of employment as are stock options, as described above.

Restricted Stock. The Committee may make Restricted Stock Awards under the Plan. A Restricted Stock Award is an award of Common Stock subject to such restrictions on transferability and other restrictions as the Committee may impose at the date of grant or thereafter. Each grant of Restricted Stock will be evidenced by a grant agreement (or certificate) between the participant and the Company setting forth the terms of the grant. The Committee may impose such terms on the grant, consistent with the Plan, as it determines are appropriate or desirable. Each Restricted Stock Award shall be subject to any restrictions determined by the Committee relating to either or both of (1) the attainment of performance goals by the employee and/or the Company and (2) the continued employment of the employee with the Company or a subsidiary.

Performance Stock Awards. The Plan provides for the grant of Performance Stock Awards in the discretion of the Committee, which represent the right to receive shares of Common Stock or its cash equivalent contingent upon the achievement of performance or other objectives established by the Committee. The Committee may provide that the payment of an Award (or the vesting thereof) will be contingent on the attainment of performance goals which are based on one or more of the following pre-established criteria: (1) net earnings; (2) earnings per share; (3) net sales growth; (4) net income (before taxes); (5) net operating profit; (6) return measures (including, but not limited to, return on assets, capital, equity or sales); (7) cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow and free cash flow); (8) earnings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation, and/or amortization; (9) productivity ratios; (10) share price (including, but not limited to, growth measures and total stockholder return); (11) expense targets; (12) operating efficiency; (13) customer satisfaction; (14) working capital targets; (15) any combination of, or a specified increase in, any of the foregoing; (16) the achievement of certain target levels of discovery and/or development of products; and (17) the formation of joint ventures, or the completion of other corporate transactions (individually or collectively, the Performance Goals).

Performance Goals will be determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States and are subject to certification by the Committee. The Committee has the authority to make equitable adjustments to the Performance Goals in recognition of unusual or non-recurring events affecting the Company, in response to changes in applicable laws or regulations, or to account for items of gain, loss or expense determined to be extraordinary or unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence or related to the disposal of a segment of a business or related to a change in accounting principles.

Stock Unit Awards. The Plan provides for the grant of Stock Unit Awards, at the discretion of the Committee, which represent the right to receive shares of the Common Stock (or its cash equivalent) in the future contingent upon the satisfaction of conditions established by the Committee. These conditions may, but are not required to, consist of one or more of the Performance Goals discussed above.

Other Stock-Based Awards. The Committee may also grant such other stock-based Awards (Other Stock-Based Awards) under the Plan as it deems consistent with the purposes of the Plan. Such Awards will have a value based upon the market price of the Common Stock.

Forfeiture Provisions. If the employment of a participant in the Plan is terminated for cause (as defined in the Plan), or if the Company discovers the evidence of cause within three years after termination of the participant s employment with the Company, all Awards held by the participant will be forfeited, whether or not then vested or then subject to restrictions. The terms of the Plan also require a participant who is terminated for cause based on conduct constituting a competitive act or willful misconduct (as such terms are defined in the Plan) to return to the Company all profits made by the participant with respect to Awards received or stock options exercised during the 180 days prior to the termination of his or her employment.

Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following summary constitutes a brief overview of the principal federal income tax consequences relating to Awards that may be granted under the amended and restated 2001 Plan based upon current federal income tax laws. This summary is not intended to be exhaustive and does not describe state, local or foreign tax consequences.

Stock Options

Nonstatutory Stock Options. In the case of a nonstatutory stock option, an optionee generally will not be taxed upon the grant of an option. Rather, at the time of exercise of such nonstatutory stock option (and in the case of an untimely exercise of an ISO), the optionee will generally recognize ordinary income for federal income tax purposes in an amount equal to the excess of the then fair market value of the shares purchased over the purchase price. The Company will generally be entitled to a tax deduction at the time and in the amount that the optionee recognizes ordinary income.

Incentive Stock Options. In the case of an ISO, an optionee will generally be in receipt of taxable income upon the disposition of the shares acquired upon exercise of the ISO, rather than upon the grant of the ISO or upon its timely exercise. If certain holding period requirements have been satisfied with respect to outstanding shares so acquired, taxable income will constitute long-term capital gain and the Company will not be entitled to a tax deduction. The tax consequences of an untimely exercise of an ISO will be determined in accordance with the rules applicable to nonstatutory stock options. The amount by which the fair market value of the Common Stock on the exercise date of an ISO exceeds the option price will generally be an item of tax preference for purposes of the alternative minimum tax imposed by Section 55 of the Code.

SARs. A grant of SARs has no federal income tax consequences at the time of grant. Upon the exercise of SARs, the value of the shares and cash received is generally taxable to the grantee as ordinary income, and the Company generally will be entitled to a corresponding deduction.

Restricted Stock. Generally, the grant of Restricted Stock has no federal income tax consequences at the time of grant. Rather, at the time the shares are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture (as defined in the Code), the grantee will recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair market value of such shares. A grantee may, however, elect to be taxed at the time of the grant. The Company generally will be entitled to a deduction at the time and in the amount that the grantee recognizes ordinary income.

Performance Stock Awards. In general, no taxable income is realized by a participant in the Plan upon the grant of a Performance Stock Award. Such grantee generally would include in ordinary income any cash, and the fair market value of any shares of Common Stock, paid to him pursuant to such Award at the time of payment. The Company generally will be entitled to a deduction at the time and in the amount that the grantee recognizes ordinary income.

Stock Unit Awards. In general, no taxable income is realized by a participant in the Plan upon the grant of a Stock Unit Award. Such participant generally would include in ordinary income the fair market value of the award of Common Stock at the time shares of Common Stock are delivered to the participant. The Company generally will be entitled to a deduction at the time and in the amount that the grantee recognizes ordinary income.

Payroll Taxes. In addition to ordinary income tax, amounts that are treated as wages will be subject to payroll tax and withholding by the Company.

Benefits Under the Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan

Because participation in the Plan and the amount and terms of Awards under the Plan are at the discretion of the Committee (subject to the terms of the Plan), and because Performance Goals may vary from Award to Award and from grantee to grantee, benefits under the Plan are not presently determinable. Compensation paid and other benefits granted to Named Executive Officers for 2002 are set forth in the Summary Compensation Table. If the Plan (as proposed to be amended and restated) had been in effect in 2002, the persons and groups shown in the following table would have received the number of stock options shown below, which are the same number of stock options as were actually granted in 2002 to the persons shown under the 1992 Plan. No other stock-based awards would have been granted in 2002 had the Plan been in effect in that year.

Name	Number of Options
Mr. Gierer	78,500
Mr. Verheij	55,000
Mr. D Alessandro	33,000
Mr. Baseler	10,000
Mr. Kessler	55,000
Current Executive Officers as a Group (6 Persons)	258,500
Employees in 2002 (Excluding Current Executive Officers)	482,100

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes the equity compensation plans under which securities may be issued as of December 31, 2002. The securities which may be issued consist solely of Common Stock.

			Number of Securities Remaining
	Number of Securities to be	Weighted Average	Available for Future Issuance
	Listed Upon Exercise of	Exercise Price of	Under Equity Compensation
	Outstanding Options, Warrants and	Outstanding Options, Warrants	Plans (Excluding Securities Reflected in
Plan Category	Rights	and Rights	Column(a))
	(a)	(b)	(c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders(1)	12,825,500(3)	\$28.41(3)	6,031,500
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders(2)			178,890(4)
Total	12,825,500(3)	\$28.41(3)	6,210,390

⁽¹⁾ Includes the 1992 Plan, 2001 Plan and the Nonemployee Directors Stock Option Plan, all of which have been approved by the Company's stockholders.

- (2) Includes the Nonemployee Directors Restricted Stock Award Plan.
- (3) Does not include the 2001 Plan because no options have been granted under the plan as of December 31, 2002.
- (4) Amount represents shares remaining for future issuance pursuant to the Nonemployee Directors Restricted Stock Award Plan, which was not required to be approved by stockholders. Pursuant to this plan, non-employee directors of the Company are awarded 40 shares of Restricted Stock for each Board committee meeting they attend and 50 shares of Restricted Stock for each meeting of the Board of Directors they attend. Shares vest on the third anniversary date of grant or, if earlier, upon age-related mandatory retirement from service pursuant to the Board's retirement policy. A total of 200,000 shares of Common Stock are authorized for issuance in accordance with the terms of this plan. Pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K, a copy of the UST Inc. Nonemployee Directors Restricted Stock Award Plan has been filed and is incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998.

The following resolution will be offered at the meeting:

RESOLVED, that the UST Inc. Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan, as adopted by the Board of Directors on February 20, 2003, subject to stockholder approval, be, and it hereby is, ratified, confirmed and approved by the stockholders of the Company.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE FOR THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION

(Proposal No. 3). Your appointed proxies will vote your shares **FOR** Proposal No. 3 unless you instruct otherwise in the proxy form.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of the Common Stock present in person or by proxy is required to adopt this proposal. In accordance with Delaware law, abstentions will, while broker non-votes will not, be treated as present for purposes of the preceding sentence.

Proposal No. 4

A Proposal to Ratify and Approve the Selection of Independent Auditors of the Accounts of the Company and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for the Year 2003.

The Board has selected the firm of Ernst & Young LLP, Certified Public Accountants, as independent auditors of the accounts of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the year 2003. Ernst & Young LLP has been serving the Company and its subsidiaries in this capacity for many years. The Board selection was made upon the unanimous recommendation of its Audit Committee.

In connection with its audit of the Company s 2002 financial statements, Ernst & Young LLP read the Company s periodic reports which were filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, discussed quarterly financial information included in the Company s quarterly financial statements and met with the Audit Committee.

The aggregate fees billed for professional services provided to the Company by Ernst & Young LLP for the last fiscal year were as follows:

Audit Fees

For the audit of the Company s annual financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 and the reviews of the financial statements included in the Company s Forms 10-Q during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002: \$827,000.

Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation Fees

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, Ernst & Young LLP did not provide professional services to the Company in connection with design and implementation of financial information systems.

All Other Fees

For professional services provided to the Company, other than the services described above under Audit Fees and which include audit related services of \$120,000 related to employee benefit plan audits, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002: \$303,000.

The Audit Committee has considered whether the provision of these services to the Company as well as the fees paid for such are compatible with maintaining the independence of Ernst & Young LLP. The Audit Committee has concluded that such independence can be maintained.

Representatives of Ernst & Young LLP are expected to be present at the Annual Meeting, will have an opportunity to make a statement if so desired and will be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Ratification of the selection of the Company s independent auditors is not required by any statute or regulation to which the Company is subject or by the Company s By-Laws. If the

stockholders do not ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP, the selection of independent auditors will be reconsidered by the Board.

The following resolution will be offered at the meeting:

RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors selection of Ernst & Young LLP as independent auditors of the accounts of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the year 2003 be, and it hereby is, ratified, confirmed and approved by the stockholders of the Company.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE <u>FOR</u> THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION(Proposal No. 4). Your appointed proxies will vote your shares **FOR** Proposal No. 4 unless you instruct otherwise in the proxy form.

The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of Common Stock present in person or by proxy is required to adopt this proposal. In accordance with Delaware law, abstentions will, while broker non-votes will not, be treated as present for purposes of the preceding sentence.

STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS

The following Proposal Nos. 5 and 6, which are printed verbatim, have been submitted by stockholders. The name, address and shareholdings of the proponents will be furnished upon oral or written request to the Secretary of the Company. For the reasons set forth following the proposals, the Board recommends a vote **AGAINST** Proposal Nos. 5 and 6.

Proposal No. 5

3 Shareholder Vote regarding Poison Pills

This topic won an average 60% yes vote at 50 companies in 2002

This is to recommend that our Board of Directors redeem any poison pill previously issued (if applicable) and not adopt or extend any poison pill unless such adoption or extension has been submitted to a shareholder vote.

This topic won an average 60% yes vote at 50 companies in 2002 according to the Investor Responsibility Research Center tabulation on Average Voting Results, December 2002.

Harvard Report

A 2001 Harvard Business School study found that good corporate governance (which took into account whether a company had a poison pill) was positively and significantly related to company value. This study, conducted with the University of Pennsylvania s Wharton School, reviewed the relationship between the corporate governance index for 1,500 companies and company performance from 1990 to 1999. The report is titled, Corporate Governance and Equity Prices, July 2001, Paul A. Gompers, Harvard Business School.

Some believe that a company with good governance will perform better over time, leading to a higher stock price. Others see good governance as a means of reducing risk, as they believe it decreases the likelihood of bad things happening to a company. Source: Putting a Value on Governance, *Directors & Boards*, Spring 1997.

Since the 1980s Fidelity, a mutual fund giant with \$800 billion invested, has withheld votes for directors at companies that have approved poison pills, *Wall Street Journal*, June 12, 2002.

Council of Institutional Investors Recommendation

The Council of Institutional Investors www.cii.org, an organization of 120 pension funds which invests \$1.5 trillion, called for shareholder approval of poison pills. In recent years, various companies have been willing to redeem existing poison pills or seek shareholder approval for their poison pill. This includes Columbia/HCA, McDermott International and Bausch & Lomb. I believe that our company should follow suit and allow shareholder input.

Allow Shareholder Vote regarding Poison Pills Yes on 3

COMPANY S RESPONSE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE <u>AGAINST</u> THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION (Proposal No. 5).

The Company believes that this proposal is not in the best interests of the Company or its stockholders.

The Board is cognizant of corporate governance issues and recognizes that proper corporate governance is important for public companies to achieve superior performance and maintain the confidence of the marketplace.

The Board is committed to its fiduciary duty of protecting the Company and its stockholders. The Board s primary objective is to maximize long-term shareholder value and to assure the vitality of the Company for its owners, employees, customers and other stakeholders who depend on it.

The Company does not presently have, nor has it ever had, a shareholder rights plan. However, the Board believes that it is in the best interests of the stockholders to be allowed to take steps, if it deems necessary or appropriate, in order to preserve for the Company s stockholders the long-term value of the Company in the event of a potential takeover which appears to the Board to be coercive and unfair or otherwise not in the best interests of the stockholders. By seeking to restrict the Board s power in an area of fundamental importance to stockholders, the proposal could prevent the Board from discharging its fiduciary duties to protect the interests of the Company and its stockholders.

The Board also believes that the adoption of a shareholder rights plan in appropriate circumstances should not have a negative effect on stockholder value, contrary to the claims made in the proposal. This belief is supported by several studies that show that shareholder rights plans do not diminish stockholder value and that, in fact, acquisition premiums for takeover target companies with a shareholder rights plan are higher, on average, than premiums paid to companies without one.

Accordingly, the Board believes that the adoption of this proposal is neither appropriate nor in the best interests of the Company or its stockholders and urges stockholders to vote **AGAINST** it.

Your appointed proxies will vote your shares AGAINST Proposal No. 5 unless you instruct otherwise in the proxy form.

The affirmative vote of a majority of shares of Common Stock present in person or by proxy is required to adopt this proposal. In accordance with Delaware law, abstentions will, while broker non-votes will not, be treated as present for purposes of the preceding sentence.

Proposal No. 6

REDUCING NITROSAMINES (TSNA) IN ORAL SNUFF

UST

Whereas: UST has been sued by individuals and states attorney generals for the harm caused by our products. We also have agreed to pay millions of dollars to settle these claims:

Oral snuff has been determined by the U.S. Surgeon General to cause oral cancer (See the 1989 Report of the Surgeon General of the United States entitled *Reducing the Health Consequences of Smoking: 25 Years of Progress* at page 90 and the 1985 Special Report of the Surgeon General of the United States entitled *The Health Consequences of Using Smokeless Tobacco.*);

The principle cancer causing agent in oral snuff is a class of compounds called tobacco specific nitrosamines (TSNA). (See the 1989 Report of the Surgeon General of the United States entitled *Reducing the Health Consequences of Smoking: 25 Years of Progress* at page 90 and the 1985 Special Report of the Surgeon General of the United States entitled *The Health Consequences of Using Smokeless Tobacco*.) One tobacco manufacturer, Star Scientific, has developed a process for reducing the levels of TSNA to below 1 microgram/gram. (See K.D. Brunnemann, J. Qi and D. Hoffman, *Chemical Profile of Two Types of Oral Snuff Tobacco* (revised February 28, 2002, available (in English) at www.smokeless.de/news.) This represents a barely detectable level;

A recent study done by the American Health Foundation found that some of our company s snuff products have TSNA levels forty times greater than Star s products;

Our Company has developed new manufacturing procedures for a new brand of snuff called Revel that has a TSNA level of 1 ug/g;

In our opinion, the failure to remove a known defect in our products increases our risk of adverse litigation; this becomes all the more serious when it can be shown that our Company has the ability to virtually eliminate the nitrosamines which are a significant cause of cancer. We believe that the failure to diminish the TSNA levels could seriously diminish the value of our stock.

As shareholders who are concerned about both the value of our company s stock and its moral responsibility to its consumers, we believe that the new technology must be applied to all our brands, especially since it has been shown the reduction of TSNA can significantly reduce oral cancer.

RESOLVED: that the shareholders request the Board to adopt a policy of reducing, as rapidly as possible, TSNA levels in all of the company s oral snuff products to the lowest feasible levels.

COMPANY S RESPONSE

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS VOTE AGAINST THE FOREGOING RESOLUTION (Proposal No. 6).

While the U.S. Surgeon General reached the judgment in 1986, based on studies then available, that smokeless tobacco can cause cancer, more than 70% of the studies published since that time have not found a statistically significant association between smokeless tobacco and oral cancer in the populations studied. Those studies included two large scale, well-designed epidemiological studies specifically involving moist snuff, the Company s principal smokeless tobacco product.

Indeed, those studies published since the publication of the 1986 Surgeon General s Report led the European Union to eliminate the phrase causes cancer from its required smokeless tobacco warning labels.

Smokeless tobacco is a complex mixture containing several thousand naturally occurring constituents that are found in the tobacco plant. Among those constituents are certain nitrosamines, including tobacco-specific nitrosamines (TSNAs). TSNAs are also formed during the curing and fermentation of tobacco. They are referred to as tobacco-specific nitrosamines because they are generally found only in tobacco or tobacco products. They are part of a larger family of nitrosamine compounds, some of which are found in food products such as fish, cured meat and cheese.

Some TSNAs have been reported to cause cancers in test animals (laboratory carcinogens) when those TSNAs are tested in isolation without the other constituents of smokeless tobacco. However, smokeless tobacco, which contains TSNAs, has not been shown to cause cancer in animals.¹

Several scientific and governmental organizations have classified TSNAs with respect to their possible carcinogenicity. The WHO s International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has not classified any TSNA as carcinogenic to humans. Rather, IARC has classified certain TSNAs only as possibly carcinogenic to humans or as unclassifiable as to [their] carcinogenicity to humans.

Nevertheless, in order to address concerns expressed by some in the public health community and to be prepared for possible future regulatory requirements, the Company has been engaged in a long-standing program to reduce the overall level of TSNAs in its moist smokeless tobacco products to the lowest levels possible while maintaining consumer acceptability.

The Company has invested more than 75 million dollars over the past twenty years in its VIPM (Vertically Integrated Process Management) program and similar efforts. The VIPM program is designed to attack the TSNA issue at every stage of the process that may affect the formation of TSNAs—literally from—seed to shelf. The VIPM program involves assessment and possible modification of tobacco crop management, leaf curing, leaf processing and aging, leaf formulation, the fermentation process, finishing and packaging of the product, and the shelf-life of the product.

The Company s commitment to the reduction of TSNAs is further evidenced by its purchase in 1997 of F.W. Rickard Seeds, Inc., a company that for more than 60 years has been engaged in the production and marketing of a wide variety of high quality hybrid and conventional tobacco seed. Importantly, Rickard Seeds is engaged in several initiatives to address the issue of TSNA levels in finished tobacco products by starting at the beginning the tobacco seed and tobacco genetics. In one initiative, the Company has instituted a protocol developed to screen seed used in commercial seed production. A second initiative seeks a direct genetic intervention in the production of TSNAs. The Company is committed to continuing this important work.

The VIPM program and other efforts by the Company have resulted in very substantial reductions in the average levels of TSNAs in the Company s moist smokeless tobacco products. For example, the average levels of TSNAs in Copenhagen and Skoal as measured and reported in the scientific literature by researchers from the American Health Foundation decreased 77% between 1980 and 1994, the last time data for both of these brands was reported in the scientific literature (see chart below).

¹ Grasso P. Mann AH. Smokeless tobacco and oral cancer: An assessment of evidence derived from laboratory animals. *Food Chem Toxicol* 1998; 36: 1015-1029.

Copenhagen/Skoal TSNA Levels

Reported in the Scientific Literature

Year

TSNA = Total of reported levels of four TSNAs on dry weight basis in parts per million

Copenhagen/Skoal TSNA levels = Average of TSNA levels reported in the scientific literature, excluding anomalous data for 1986

* No comparable data reported for any period after 1994

TSNA Values Displayed on Chart*

1980 - 70 ppm

1981 - 60 ppm

1988 - 21 ppm

1990 - 21 ppm

1991 - 15 ppm

1992 - 10 ppm

1994 - 16 ppm

References

- 1. Djordjevic MV, Brunneman KD, Hoffmann D. The need for regulation of carcinogenic N-Nitrosamines snuff. *Food Chem Toxicol* 1993; 31: 497-501, at 498. (1992 data and all earlier data)
- 2. Hoffmann D. Djordjevic MV, Fan J. Zang E., Glynn T, Connolly GN. Five leading U.S. commercial brands moist snuff in 1994; assessment of carcinogenic N-Nitrosamines. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1995; 87: 1862-9.(1994 data)

^{*} All values rounded to nearest whole number

The Company intends to continue its efforts to reduce TSNAs to the lowest levels possible, while maintaining consumer acceptability, in all of its moist snuff brands. Indeed, the Company s newest brand, Revel, has the lowest TSNA levels of almost any smokeless tobacco product currently available, including Swedish moist snuff products.

In light of the foregoing, this proposal has been substantially implemented. In addition to the foregoing, the Company believes that this proposal contains a number of assertions which are false and misleading.

Accordingly, the Board believes that the adoption of this proposal is neither appropriate nor in the best interests of the Company or its stockholders and urges stockholders to vote **AGAINST** it.

Your appointed proxies will vote your shares AGAINST Proposal No. 6 unless you instruct otherwise in the proxy form.

The affirmative vote of a majority of shares of Common Stock present in person or by proxy is required to adopt this proposal. In accordance with Delaware law, abstentions will, while broker non-votes will not, be treated as present for purposes of the preceding sentence.

36

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE